

SONOMA COUNTY MENTAL HEALTH BOARD

Minutes of October 16, 2018



This Meeting:

Sonoma County Behavioral Health Services, The Hub at The Lakes Conference Room, 2245 Challenger Way, Santa Rosa, CA 95407-5419

Minutes are posted in draft form and after approval at www.sonoma-county.org/mhboard Email: dhs-mhb@sonoma-county.org

Please Note: A list of commonly used abbreviations and acronyms is attached

CALL TO ORDER

Meeting called to order at 5:02 PM by Chair, Mary Ann Swanson

ROLL CALL

Present: Mary Ann Swanson, Kathy Smith, Bob Cobb, Dick Kirk, Peter McAweeney, Diana Nelson, Sherry Weyers

Excused: Fran Adams, Patricia Gray

Absent: Matthew Jensen, Shellie Hadley

PEERS Coalition Representative: Sara Stoxen (present)

Sonoma County DHS, Behavioral Health Division: Barbie Robinson (DHS Director); Rod Stroud (DHS Assistant Director); Rohish Lai (Public Information Analyst); DHS Dr. Michael Kozart (BH Interim Director/Medical Director); Lisa Nosal (Adult Services Clinical Specialist); Sid McColley (Acute & Forensic Services); Jenny Symons (BH Administrative Services Officer); Diane Madrigal (BH SUD Section Manager).

Community Members: Kate Roberge (GIRE); Sean Bolan (GIRE); Sean Kelson (GIRE); Susan Keller (Community Network); Donnell Holmes (Buckelew); Mary-Frances Walsh (NAMI); Dan Schurman (St. Joseph's Health); David Cox; Tricia Allen (DAAC); several Sonoma County Grand Jury members; and other community members.

ANNOUNCEMENTS / PUBLIC INTRODUCTIONS & COMMENTS

- You may submit agenda items for consideration prior to the Executive Committee meeting, normally held on the first Wednesday of each month, 10:30 AM to Noon. Email or call MHB clerk Rhonda Darrow (565-4850), <u>Rhonda.Darrow@sonoma-county.org</u> to verify the next meeting date.
- 2) Please direct all your questions to the Chair.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

The minutes from September 18, 2018 general meeting were not available for approval.

<u>CONSUMER AFFAIRS REPORT</u> – Kate Roberge, Consumer Education Coordinator of the Consumer Relations Program of Goodwill Industries (<u>kroberge@gire.org</u>), and/or Guests

Kate shared that Governor Brown vetoed State Bill 906 (Mental health services and substance use disorder treatment: peer support specialist certification). This bill did not include allowing Medi-Cal billing for these services. Allowing Medi-Cal billing would bring in more revenue to allow more hiring of these positions. One of the issues is that there are different skill requirements for continuation of education for each county. This state bill will be brought to the next governor elect.

A MHB member asked about the Medi-Cal billing, and Kate explained that peer support specialists do not want to write deficits about their peers based on mental health and substance use disorder issues. There are about 6500 peer support specialists in the State and about 30+ in Sonoma County.

PUBLIC COMMENTS/CONCERNS/ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Mary Ann welcomed the members of Sonoma County Grand Jury. They said their attendance was to learn about the role of the Mental Health Board and services of Sonoma County Behavioral Health Services.

Sean Kelson announced that the next topic for the Monthly Client Forum at Interlink Self-Help Center (1033-4th Street, Santa Rosa, CA 95404; phone: (707) 546-4481) will Sonoma County Office of Patients' Rights (Presenters Frank and Bill SmithWaters, Sonoma County Patients' Rights Advocates), on Friday, October 26, 2018, 1:00 to 2:30 PM. "County Patients' Rights Advocates are state mandated positions charged with empowering and assisting recipients of mental health services to exercise their civil and human rights. They are here to represent clients' interests as defined by the client, as long as those interests are within the bounds of the law and achievable within the Advocate's resources." There will be Patients' Rights clinics on Mondays at 12:00 noon led by Frank and Bill SmithWaters.

Sean also shared that Laura Hodge of Behavioral Health Co-Op will also be offering classes on the first and third Wednesdays at Interlink Self-Help Center.

Susan Keller, Community Network (CN) Director, gave an update on the Advance Care Planning/Palliative Care (ACP/PC) Pilot Project done over the past few years with the BHD Older Adult Team (OAT) and Peer Pilot Advisors. The Winter 2018 Peer Pilot training and testing of OAT Pilot created ACP/PC materials was a great success generating an invitation from the CA HealthCare Foundation (CHCF) to CN to submit a proposal for Peer Pilot expansion. CN just learned that it is receiving a \$15,000 planning grant to work with Peer Pilot collaborators developing a major funding proposal for Peer Pilot expansion. Collaborators include Goodwill Redwood Empire, BHD, Coalition for Compassionate Care of CA (CCCC) and CN as lead organization. In addition to community engagement for proposal development, the grant also funds CN to add new section, ACP for Mental Health Challenges, to CaringCommunity.org , post pilot created and training materials for easy access, and prominently feature new section highlights on home page. Grant also funds a Peer Pilot Leadership Team production of a Poster Session about the Pilot for 11th Annual CCCC Palliative Care Summit in San Francisco in April, 2019. Susan noted that Advance Care Planning enables individuals to execute a legally recognized Advance Health Care Directive making their health care wishes known and designating health care agents to help guide health care when the individual is unable to guide their own care including care in a mental health crisis.

Tricia Allen of Drug Alternative Abuse Center (DAAC) introduced herself and shared that DAAC has outpatient services (works with FACT, legal offices and pre-natal program) and Turning Point runs the residential treatment center.

SPECIAL PRESENTATION: Sonoma County Behavioral Health, Substance Use Disorder and Recovery Services (Presenter Diane Madrigal)

(Please see attached PowerPoint slides: Substance Use Disorders and Recovery Section)

Diane Madrigal handed out a folder to each meeting attendee with a copy of the attached PowerPoint slides and several brochures of the programs. Diane shared their annual SUD Recovery Happens event happened on Sunday, September 30th. There were 450 attendees, 50 of them children. These gatherings bring hope to families and help in breaking the cycles.

Diane said that no one is turned away due to their lack of funding. SUDS programs are funded by set-aside funds, Medi-Cal covers pregnant women, County general funds and SAMHSA grants

Sonoma County Substance Use Disorders And Recovery Section

Sonoma County Substance Use Disorders and Recovery Section administration and some programs are located at The Lakes, 2255 Challenger Way, Santa Rosa (565-7450). Additional offices and programs are located at the Sonoma County Main Adult Detention Facility, North County Detention Facility, Sonoma County Probation Department, Los Guilicos, Human Services, and DUI Program offices at Coddingtown, Petaluma, Sonoma and Guerneville.

AB109 Program

In collaboration with the Probation Department, the AB109 Behavioral Health program provides Mental Health and SUD screening and assessment services for Post Release Community Supervision (PRCS) State parolees and AB109 1170(h) county inmates to determine immediate programming and support needs upon their release from custody. These referrals may include outpatient or residential treatment programming, probation-funded transitional housing, and access to eligibility workers to sign up for a wide-array of benefits, including Cal Fresh, Medi-Cal, General Assistance, Social Security, and DMV vouchers for Identification Cards.

Adolescent Treatment Program

Provides assessment, education and individual and group counseling services to juvenile detainees at Los Guilicos, Probation Camp and Sierra Youth Center; provides outpatient counseling services at six community sites and one community residential treatment bed; provides education in a clean-and-sober school setting. The program is a coordinated effort between DHS and two community providers.

Adolescent Treatment Probation Assessment

Upon Probation request, assesses Juvenile Hall and Probation youth to determine ASAM level of care and provides recommendations to Probation. Probation assessments are conducted at Juvenile Hall or The Lakes.

Driving Under the Influence (DUI) Program

Sonoma County offers First Offender, Multiple Offender, and Wet & Reckless DUI Programs for individuals convicted of driving under the influence. The programs consists of education classes, and group and individual counseling sessions.

The First Offender Program is a 3-month program, requiring a 31-hour programming commitment. This program may be extended up to 6 or 9 months, requiring an increased number of educational classes, process groups and individual counseling sessions, depending on the level of the Blood Alcohol Content at the time of arrest or any enhancements applied by the court.

The Multiple Offender Program is an 18-month program, which includes a 71-hour programming commitment. A 12-month program is available for those who may have been convicted of a DUI over twenty years ago.

The Wet & Reckless program (6 weeks of education only) is designed for those clients charged for reckless driving involving alcohol or drugs. A wet/reckless is not a separate offence for which you can be charged in California. It is a charge that is offered as a plea bargained settlement in place of a DUI, but is still counted

as a first offense should one incur a second DUI. It is often treated like a first offense by insurance companies.

Dependency Drug Court (DDC)

Dependency Drug Court is a court-supervised, comprehensive, case-management and treatment program in coordination with the Youth and Children Division of the Human Services Department. The program is designed for parents and guardians whose children have been removed or are in danger of being removed from their care as a result of child abuse or neglect, partially stemming from the parent's alcohol or other drug use. It is designed to be a voluntary 12-month program that includes regular court appearances before the Dependency Drug Court Judicial Officer, community alcohol and other drug treatment, 12-step participation, comprehensive treatment program for families to include family support and developmental services for children and other support services.

Drug Court Program

A minimum 12-month diversionary program for clients with nonviolent misdemeanors or felonies related to drug abuse charges that provides intensive outpatient and residential community treatment services and frequent court supervision designed to support voluntary, positive behavioral change. The Drug Court program provides the opportunity to form a unique partnership and collaboration with the criminal justice system, the drug treatment community and the offender.

DUI Court Program

Requires high-risk, repeat DUI offenders to participate in treatment, combined with education, judicial scrutiny, testing and formal supervision. The DUI Court Program is modeled after the county's successful Drug Court program and is a collaboration of several agencies including the county's Superior Court, Probation Department, SUD and Recovery Services, Public Defender's Office, District Attorney's Office, the Sheriff's Office and local law enforcement agencies. Program participants receive professional help to confront their substance abuse issues and learn how to make life-changing improvements in their lives. Outcomes indicate the collaborative supervision provides the extensive support needed to learn to control their alcohol addiction, become more productive citizens and present a far smaller risk of reoffending.

Drug Free Babies

A collaborative case management program for pregnant and delivering women designed to reduce the negative impact of prenatal tobacco, alcohol and other drug exposure. Participating prenatal care providers use an oral interview tool to screen all pregnant patients. Hospitals use the Newborn Needs Assessment to screen all delivering women and newborns. Women who need help to quit are encouraged to meet with a specially trained AOD counselor at a variety of locations (clinic, hospital or counseling office) to be assessed and offered the most appropriate level of treatment services.

Drug Testing - PassPoint

Random pupil-scanned drug screenings (PassPoint) and urinalysis services for individuals enrolled in Sonoma County case management programs. Urinalysis testing is done for community AOD contract providers and other court referrals, as well as individuals with positive PassPoint screens. Testing analysis is done through Redwood Toxicology.

In-Custody Starting Point Program

Starting Point provides SUD services for inmates at the North County Detention Facility (NCDF) and the Main Adult Detention Facility (MADF). Inmates participating in the program are located in designated housing units/modules and receive a range of 100-260 hours of programming, depending upon the client's

risk to reoffend. If eligible, inmates may be released to residential treatment placement in the community. Program activities include the use of evidenced-based materials in the implementation of educational classes, group counseling sessions, community meetings, and discussion/process groups covering a range of topics relating to alcohol and other drug use and abuse, recovery, life skills, addressing criminal thinking and behaviors, and reentry planning. Inmates participating in the program are encouraged to participate in all other programming offered by the Sheriff's office.

SonomaWORKS Welfare Reform Alcohol and Drug Services

AODS counselors work at the Human Services Employment and Training Services Division to provide screening, assessment and case management, as part of the welfare-to-work team process. When alcohol and drug problems have created barriers to employment, we contract with specific treatment agencies to provide necessary services to eligible clients.

Treatment Accountability for Safer Communities (TASC)

Provides advocacy, assessment, case management, and treatment placement and supervision services for adults currently involved in the criminal justice system who are ready to participate in treatment. TASC services include treatment assessment for eligible inmates; placement in AOD community treatment services; advocacy with the Probation Department, the District Attorney's Office and the client's defense attorney to promote treatment in lieu of jail; regular counseling sessions until the individual is placed in treatment; supervision throughout and following treatment services; and monitoring compliance through random drug testing.

Turning Point - Orenda Detox

Center Point Drug Abuse Alternatives Center staff are available 24 hours a day at the Orenda Center for alcohol and other drug detoxification services. The Detox Program has 15 beds, open to males and females, in a social model (non-medical) live-in program usually lasting 72 hours. It is designed to provide evaluation and supportive services to assist acutely intoxicated individuals in withdrawing from the effects of alcohol and other drugs and plan for continuing recovery.

Addiction Treatment Services

The Department of Health Services partners with community-based agencies under contract to provide addiction treatment services. Our Behavioral Health Division provides oversight, training, quality assurance and site monitoring for these programs. Sonoma County ensures priority of placement into treatment for pregnant clients. Pregnant women are given preference in admission: (1) pregnant injecting drug users; (2) pregnant substance users; (3) injecting drug users; (4) all others.

ARTS

Acupuncture treatment for Drug Court clients.

California Human Development

Co-ed outpatient treatment; long-term residential treatment women; residential services for Latinos and Latinas.

Drug Abuse Alternatives Center

Co-ed outpatient treatment for adults and adolescents; narcotic replacement therapy; perinatal day treatment; long-term and short-term co-ed residential treatment; detoxification services.

Santa Rosa Treatment Program

Narcotic Replacement Therapy (such as methadone).

Women's Recovery Services

Long term residential treatment for women, including women with children.

Recovery Meetings, Groups and Resources

- Interlink Self Help Center
- LifeRing Meetings
- Sonoma County AA Meetings
 Source Sonoma County Intergroup Fellowship.
- Sonoma County NA Meetings
 Source Sonoma County Fellowship of Narcotics Anonymous.
- Wellbriety/Talking Circle Meetings at Sonoma County Indian Health Project
 Tuesday and Thursday nights, 6:00 8:00 p.m., at the Behavioral Health conference room, 2nd floor, 144 Stony Point Road, Santa Rosa, CA. Meetings are open to the public.

Dr. Kozart said that the opioid issue is being monitored by the Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES) stores controlled substance prescription information reported as dispensed in California and continues to monitor outcomes. All physicians have to be registered on CURES. SCBH is working on prescribing guidelines to post on the County website.

Kathy Smith, MHB member, noted unmet programs for the elderly with opioid dependencies. They need a different type of program, as their dependency most likely started with their physicians.

The Mobile Support Team (MST) does have a drug and alcohol staff along with a mental health staff member on the team.

Sean Kelson shared there is a significant issue of increased usage of the opioid fetanyl in Sonoma County. They have seen the effects of fentanyl in the people attending the self-help centers. The availability of Narcan. which is used for the treatment of an opioid emergency or a possible opioid overdose, has been made more accessible for use by first responders.

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIRECTOR'S REPORT/HBH FISCAL UPDATE/MENTAL HEALTH SYSTEM

TRANSFORMATION: Michael Kozart, M.D.

Sonoma County's Mental Health Services Act [MHSA] page is at <u>www.sonoma-county.org/mhsa</u> The State's MHSA page is at http://www.dmh.ca.gov/Prop_63/MHSA/default.asp MHSA newsletter is available at the link <u>http://www.sonoma-county.org/health/about/pdf/mhsa/</u>

Barbie Robinson announced that Dr. Michael Kozart will be retiring from SCBH. His last day will be November 19th. He has accepted a position as head psychiatrist at West County Health Center. Dr. Megan Burns will be the Interim Medical Director. There are 13 candidates for the BH Director. The interviews will take part at the end of October. The MHB members will be asked to take part in the interviews between the top two candidates.

Barbie shared that there is a MHSA Steering Committee, led by Amy Faulstich (MHSA Coordinator) which has contractors and other stakeholders as members to solicit their input about MHSA services.

The MHSA Plan Update will be posted on the MHSA website by October 26th. The Mental Health Board Public Hearing of the MHSA Plan Update has been rescheduled to Wednesday, November 28, 2018, 5:00 PM, at the Santa Rosa Finley Center, Person Senior Wing.

Dr. Kozart reported that the last piece of the BH move from Chanate Road is the move of Medical Records which has been slated to move the first week of November. The Driving Under the Influence (DUI) Program will be moving from Coddingtown to where the Orenda Center was located, 1430 Neotomas Avenue.

Dr. Kozart said SCBH is still in re-building mode. SCBH is challenged with trying to recruit enough staff for all of their programs. There are currently about ten clinical positions in the hiring process.

PEERS (PEOPLE EMPOWERING EACH OTHER TO REALIZE SUCCESS) COALITION INTERN REPORT -

This is the link to SRJC's webpage about current health events around the campus: <u>https://events.santarosa.edu/calendar-events</u>

Sara Stoxen handed out cards of the upcoming 6th Annual Wellness Fair. There will be a Resilency Tree so everyone can fill out a leaf to note how to help with resilency.

The SRJC's 6th Annual Wellness Fair **Explore Physical, Mental, & Social Wellness** THURSDAY, OCTOBER 18th — 5:00 PM to 8:00 PM Bertolini Student Center, Santa Rosa Campus Join us for an evening of music, wellness activities, & free food!!

There is a Recovery Fair on October 23rd, 4:00 to 8:00 PM put on by the Students of Recovery Club and PEERS will be tabling handouts of many kind of resources.

In late November, they will talking about Question Persuade and Refer (QPR) and talks about suicide prevention.

OTHER REPORTS (INCLUDING CALBHBC Report – Sherry Weyers

This is the link to California Association of Local Behavioral Health Boards and Commissions website: <u>http://www.calbhbc.org/</u>

Sherry will be attending the Central Region Meeting in Folsom, CA on 10/19/18. Sherry will provide a report at one of the next MHB meetings. The speakers will be on housing. Darrell Steinberg will be focused on housing and substance abuse.

Sherry shared that she will be taking part in the Crisis Intervention Training of law enforcement tomorrow. This training happens twice a year at the Sonoma County Sheriff's Training Room. She is on the family member panel who have been asked to share their family member's experiences with law enforcement. She said that she stays for lunch after her discussion to continue the conversation with officers.

Dick Kirk shared that the Program Assessment Matrix (PAM) work group will be selecting two contract providers to do site visits. The PAM Committee would like to be able to apply their assessment tools to gather qualitative data from consumers.

MHB CHAIR'S REPORT/BOARD PLANNING: - Mary Ann Swanson

To commemorate the fire disaster from a year ago, Mary Ann asked for community members to stand who lost their homes and/or property from the fire disaster. A few stood. When she asked how many assisted someone who was a fire victim, almost the entire room stood.

Sean said that Goodwill Industries is part of the California HOPE Crisis Counseling Program. It is still in full force, as now may be the hardest period for victims. There is an increase in drug and alcohol relapses. They need more support. Mary-Frances shared that NAMI—Wildfire Mental Health Collaborative—(707) 527-6655 (free support services, i.e., warmline, yoga, mental clinicians seeing people up to five free sessions, groups). Hotlines: 24 Hour Crisis Line—(707) 576-8181/(800) 746-8181; 24 Hour Access Line—(707) 565-6900/(800) 870-8786; North Bay Suicide Prevention—(855) 587-6373.

The facilitator is not available for the Mental Health Board Retreat on November 3, 2018, so the retreat will be rescheduled in April/May 2019.

BOARD COMMENTS:

None.

Meeting adjourned at 6:39 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Rhonda Darrow, Mental Health Board Clerk

ABBREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS

5150	Declared to be a danger to self and/or others
AB3632	Assembly Bill - State-mandated MH services for seriously emotionally disturbed youth - discontinued by State
ACA	Affordable Care Act
ACT	Assertive Community Treatment (program run by Telecare)
ANSA	Adult Needs and Strengths Assessment – a "tool" for determining which services are needed by each particular adult client
AODS	Alcohol and Other Drugs Services – now a part of the Mental Health Division and called SUDS
BHD	Behavioral Health Division (Sonoma County)
CADPAAC	County Alcohol and Drug Program Administrators' Association of California
CALMHB/C	California Association of Local Mental Health Boards & Commissions - comprised of representatives from many MHBs in the State
-	
CANS	Child, Adolescent Needs and Strengths (Assessment) – helps determine which services are needed by each child client
CAPE	Crisis Assessment, Prevention, and Education Team; goes into the schools when called to intervene in student mental health matters
CAPSC	Community Action Partnership-Sonoma County
CCAN	Corinne Camp Advocacy Network - Peers involved in mental health advocacy
CDC	Sonoma County Community Development Commission
CHD	California Human Development
CIP	Community Intervention Program
CIT	Crisis Intervention Training (4-day training for law enforcement, to help them identify and respond to mental health crisis situations)
СМНС	Community Mental Health Centers, Located in Petaluma, Guerneville, Sonoma, and Cloverdale (part of SCBH))
CMHDA	California Mental Health Directors Association
CMHL	SCBH's Community Mental Health Lecture series - open to the public - usually takes place monthly
CMSP	County Medical Services Program - for uninsured, low-income residents of the 35 counties participating in the State program
ConREP	Conditional Release Program (State-funded, SCBH-run, but will be turned over to the State 6/30/14)
CRU	Crisis Residential Unit (aka Progress Sonoma-temporary home for clients in crisis, run by Progress Foundation)
CSU	Crisis Stabilization Unit (Sonoma County Behavioral Health's psychiatric emergency services at 2225 Challenge Way, Santa Rosa, CA 95407)
CSAC	California State Association of Counties
CSN	Community Support Network (contract Provider)
CSS	Community Services and Support (part of Mental Health Services Act-MHSA)
DAAC	Drug Abuse Alternatives Center
DHCS	(State) Department of Health Care Services (replaced DMH July 1, 2011)
DHS	Department of Health Services (Sonoma County)
EPSDT	Early Periodic Screening, Diagnosis & Treatment (Children's Full Scope Medi-Cal to age 21)
EQRO	External Quality Review Organization (annual review of our programs by the State)
FACT	Forensic Assertive Community Treatment
FASST	Family Advocacy Stabilization, Support, and Treatment (kids 8-12)
FQHC	Federally Qualified Health Center
HIPPA	Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
HSD	Human Services Department
ІНТ	Integrated Health Team (medical and MH services for adults)
IPU	Inpatient Psychiatric Unit
IRT	Integrated Recovery Team (for those with mental illness + substance use issues)
IMDs	Institutes for Mental Disease (residential facilities for those unable to live on their own)
INN	Innovation (part of MHSA)
JCAHO	Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations - accredits hospitals & other organizations
LG	Los Guilicos-Juvenile Hall
LGBQQTI	Lesbian/Gay/Bisexual/Queer/Questioning/Transgender/Intersexed (also LGBT)
MADF	Main Adult Detention Facility (Jail)
MHB	Mental Health Board
MHSA	Mental Health Services Act
MST	Mobile Support Team - gets called by law enforcement to scenes of mental health crises
NAMI	National Alliance on Mental Illness
NBSPP	North Bay Suicide Prevention Project
NOA	Notice of Action
OSHPD	Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development - the building department for hospitals and skilled nursing facilities in state
PAM	Program Assessment Matrix Work Group
PC1370	Penal Code 1370 (Incompetent to Stand Trial, by virtue of mental illness)
PCP	Primary Care Provider (medical doctor)
PES	Psychiatric Emergency Services – open 24/7 for psychiatric crises - 3322 Chanate Road
PEI	Prevention and Early Intervention (part of Mental Health Services Act-MHSA)
PHP	Parker Hill Place - Telecare's transitional residential program in Santa Rosa
PHP	Partnership Health Plan

РРР	Triple P - Positive Parenting Program
PPSC	Petaluma People Services Center
QI/QA	Quality Improvement/Quality Assurance - Wendy Sanders and Audrey Boggs and Melissa Ladrech
QIP	Quality Improvement Policy (meeting)
QIS	Quality Improvement Steering (meeting)
QIC	Quality Improvement Committee (meeting)
RCC	Redwood Children's Center
RFP	Request For Proposals (released when new programs are planned and contractors are solicited
RRC	Russian River Counselors
SCBH	Sonoma County Behavioral Health
SCOE	Sonoma County Office of Education
SELPA	Special Education Local Plan Area
SNF (Sniff)	Skilled Nursing Facility
SPMI	Serious Persistent Mental Illness (or Seriously Persistently Mentally III)
SUDS	Substance Use Disorders Services (formerly AODS)
SWITS	Sonoma Web Infrastructure for Treatment Services
TAY	Transition Age Youth (18-25)
VOMCH	Valley of the Moon Children's Home
WET	Workforce Education and Training (part of MHSA)
WRAP	Working to Recognize Alternative Possibilities
Wraparound	Community-based intervention services that emphasize the strengths of the child and family
YS/Y&F	Youth Services/Youth & Family (Sonoma County Behavioral Health)